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Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

Dear Shareholders — Ajial Real Estate and Entertainment Company

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present, the 22nd Annual Report of Ajial Real
Estate & Entertainment Co., along with the Financial results for the fiscal year ended on 31st Decem-
ber 2018.

Dear Shareholders:

In the year of 2018 the Company started with the excavation works in Al-Andalus Project, a multi-pur-
pose project located in Hawalli area, on a land of 10.300 Sgm and a built-up area of 58.600 sqm ap-
proximately. The Project will contain offices, medical clinics, commercial shops, and a cinema. It is
expected to be completed by the year 2022.

The company managed to enter into a settlement with the Ministry of Finance regarding Zakat
and National Labour Support Tax for the year 2011, which resulted in recovering a provision of KD
1,280,319 and a decrease in current liabilities of KD 2,144,741.

The Company maintained its rental income from Ajial Commercial and Entertainment Complex, a
leading and distinctive facility in Al Fahaheel area. In addition, Ajial’s associates represented by Al
Hamra Real Estate and Al Madar Al Thahabia Co. (Kingdom of Saudi Arabia) have maintained expect-
ed performances. Firstly, Al Hamra Real Estate continued its growth by increasing the occupancy rate
in the Commercial Center and in the Business Tower. Secondly, Al Tamayuz Tower-Riyadh’s construc-
tion has been completed and the hotel apartment of the tower has opened in Q1 of 2018, which is
operated by Fraiser Company, a reputable global hotel operator. Furthermore, the hotel apartments
have achieved a high occupancy rate in comparison with similar projects. We are looking forward
to maintain the growth in operating income and to continue on leasing the remaining offices and
commercial shops.
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Financial Report

The balance sheet of Ajial Real Estate & Entertainment Co. clearly explains the Company’s financial
position for the fiscal year ended 31/12/2018. The Company’s net profit has reached KD 2,459,326,
with an EPS of 13.35 fils compared to KD 3,002,257 in 2017, with an EPS of 16.30 fils. Moreover,
this represents a decrease of 18.08%. In addition, operational income has reached 50.59% from KD
4,953,801 in 2017 to KD 2,447,773 in 2018.

Administrative and general expenses have increased 4.18% from KD 730,951 in 2017 to KD 761,505
in 2018. On the other hand, finance costs have decreased 1.05% from KD 467,534 in 2017 to KD
472,466 in 2018.

The consolidated balance sheet shows that assets have declined 0.43% from KD 134,931,268 in
2017 to KD 134,354,292 in 2018, and total liabilities have dropped 14.87% from KD 14,150,842 in
2017 to KD 12,047,123 in 2018. Furthermore, Shareholders’ equity has increased 1.26% from KD
120,780,426 in 2017 to KD 122,307,169 in 2018.

In the end, | would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere gratitude and appreciation to all
Shareholders, Board Members as well as the staff members. we look forward to a rewarding future
driven by more efforts to reach even further success.

Yours sincerely,,,

Shk. Ali Al Abdullah Al Khalifah Al Sabah

Chairman
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Kuwait on 11*" February 2019

To the Shareholders of Ajial Real Estate & Entertainment Co.

Acknowledgement & Undertaking of
Integrity and Fairness of Statements

The Board of Directors acknowledge and undertake that the financial reports are provided in a fair
and a sound way, they present all financial aspects of the company, including data and operational
results, and they are prepared accurately in accordance with the International Accounting Standards
approved by Capital Markets Authority for the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

Shk. Ali Abdullah Al Khalifah Al Sabah Shk. Hamad Mubarak Al Jaber Al Sabah

Chairman Vice Chairman

Mr. Abdulaziz Faisal Al Khatrash Mr. Mohammed Abdulrazzak Al Kandari
Board Member & CEO Board Member

Ms. Tahani Muslett Al Ajmi

Board Member
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Rule - 1: Construct a Balanced Board Composition

Ajial Board Structure is as follows:

ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Board Member Status

. . . Date of Election/
(Executive/Non-Executive/ Education ]
Name . Appointment of
Independent), or Board Qualification
Board Secretary
Secretary

Shk. Ali Abdullah Al Khalifah Al Sabah Non- Executive Board Member BA 01 Aug 17
Shk. Hamad Mubarak Al Jaber Al Sabah [Non- Executive Board Member BA 01 Aug 17
Mr. Abdulaziz Faisal Al Khatrash Executive Board Member BA 01 Aug 17
Ms. Tahani Al Ajmi Non- Executive Board Member MA 01 Aug 17
Mr. Mohammed Abdulrazzak Al Kandari |Independent Member BA 01 Aug 17
Mr. Abdulwahab Nabeel Al Oraifan Board Secretary BA 01 Aug 17
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Corporate Governance Report 2018

The Board of Directors held 7 meetings during the year as described below:

(Independent Member)

Meeting (1) | Meeting (2) | Meeting (3) | Meeting (4) | Meeting (5) | Meeting (6) | Meeting (7) | Number
Name of Member of
06/2/18 14/3/18 07/5/18 16/5/18 30/5/18 16/7/18 29/10/18 Meetings
Shk. Ali Abdullah
Al-Sabah v v v - v v v 6
(Chairman)
Shk. Hamad Mubarak
Al-Sabah v v v v v v v 7
(Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Abdulaziz Faisal
Al-Khatrash v v v v v v v 7
(Board Member & CEO)
Ms. Tahani Al-Ajmi
(Member) v v v v v v v 7
Mr. Mohammed Abdulrazzak
Al-Kandari v v v v v v v 7

The role of the Board Secretary of Ajial is to improve the efficiency of Board meetings and to ensure
proper implementation of the resolutions made by the Board and Committee Members. To do so,
minutes of meetings are documented and sorted out for each meeting, together with agendas and
reports put forward to the Board which are kept in a safe and secure place. All minutes contain list
of attendees, absentees, topics of discussion and submitted reports and proposals. All are accessible
and available for all Board Members at any time according to the corporate governance rules and

regulations.

Rule - 2: Establish Appropriate Roles and Responsibilities

The Board of Directors defined the roles and responsibilities of the Board and Executive Management
as per the approved Company’s organization structure. Also, they approved the policies and
procedures of Board Committees and the Company’s departments in detail.

Powers and authorities delegated to the Executive Management are as follows:

© 0 & w NP

distribute it to the Employees.

Ensure proper coordination between departments.

Problem solving issues related to the Management.

Overall monitoring of all departments and operations.

Carry out and implement the strategies set out by the Board of Directors.

Develop executive objectives of each department and link such plans with the overall plan.

Review and update the internal policies and procedures of the company and accordingly
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Board achievements during the Year:
1. Reduced finance cost through loan restructuring.
2. Total Exit of equity investments and focused mainly on property/real estate investments.
3. Settled the tax claims with the Ministry of Finance
4. Acquired building permit for Al-Andalus project.
5

Increased marketing activities and events in Ajial Mall.

The Board of Directors carry out their duties and responsibilities through three Committees as
indicated below:

Nomination and Remuneration

Name of Committee Audit Committee Risk Committee
Committee
Date of Formation 1 August 2017 1 August 2017 1 August 2017
Term 3 years 3 years 3 years
Number of Meetings |4 4 2
Committee Members |o Shk. Hamad Al Sabah (Chairman) |o  Ms. Tahani Al Ajmi (Chairman) o Shk. Hamad Al Sabah (Chairman)

and Chairman 0 Ms. Tahani Al Ajmi (Member) 0  Mr. Abdulaziz Al Khatrash (Member) [o  Mr. Abdulaziz Al Khatrash

(Member)
o Mr. Mohammed Al Kandari 0 Mr. Mohammed Al Kandari

(Member) (Member) 0 Ms. Tahani Al Ajmi (Member)

Committee Functions |o Regular review of the company’s |o  Verify the independence of the |o  Approve the new employee
and Achievements financial statements and the risk management personnel. grade and salary structure.
observations made by the

during the year
€ 4 external auditors.

o Prepare regular reportsonthe |o Evaluate the performance of

company’s risk exposure and the Board of Directors and
o Consult the board on the present these reports to the Committees.
appointment of the External Board.

auditors and monitor their
activities.

o Monitor the company
internal audit function and
recommend the appointment
and termination of the internal
auditor.

o Ensure compliance with the
rules and regulations of the
regulatory authorities.

The Company has made all information available to Board Members that enables them
to carry out their supervisory role over the Executive Management. Any meetings may be
arranged with the Executive Management through the Board Secretary. Board Members,
especially Independent Members, are encouraged to visit the Company with or without the
presence of the Top Management. In addition, if Board Members have any query or question
about any information or documents they are free to approach the Board Secretary first so
that he can coordinate with the respective department Manager and the Board Member.
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Corporate Governance Report 2018

Rule - 3: Recruit Highly Qualified Candidates for the Board of Directors &
Executive Management

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee has been formed in accordance with corporate
governance rules and regulations issued by Capital Markets Authority taking into consideration the
following requirements in the selection of Committee Members:

1. The Committee is comprised of three members.
2. The Committee is chaired by a Non-Executive Board Member.

3. Chairman of the Board or CEO may be a Committee Member.

The objective of this committee is to attract highly experienced skilled Employees and to retain
Employees with potential. Hence improving the competitive edge of the Company by carrying out
the following functions and responsibilities:

1. Develop a clear remuneration policy for Board Members and executive management.
2. Ensure that the remuneration policy is in line with the interest of the Shareholders.

3. Prepare a detailed annual report to the Shareholders on the remuneration given to the Board
Members and Executive Management.

4. Recommend on the nomination of Executive positions.

5. Setting out training requirements for Board Members and Executive Management annually.

The report on the remuneration of the Board of Directors and Executive Management for 2018 is
included in the annual report for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Rule - 4: Safeguard the Integrity of Financial Reporting

The Executive Management have submitted a written undertaking that the Company’s financial
reports are provided in a sound and fair manner. Furthermore, they present all financial aspects of
the Company, including data and operational results. Moreover, they are prepared in accordance
with the International Accounting Standards approved by the Capital Markets Authority. The annual
report submitted to Shareholders includes the Board’s undertaking/ acknowledgement of the
soundness and integrity of all financial statements and reports related to the Company’s activities.

The Audit Committee was formed in accordance with the corporate governance rules and regulations
issued by Capital Markets Authority, taking into consideration the following requirements in the
selection of Committee Members:



ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Corporate Governance Report 2018
1. Committee to be formed of at least three members including an Independent Member.
2. Chairman of the Board shall not be a Committee Member.
3. Chairman of Committee shall be a Non-Executive Board Member.
4

Committee shall include at least a member of educational qualification and/or practical ex-
perience in the accounting and financial fields.

There was no conflict between the Audit Committee recommendations and Board decisions which
require a detailed statement that explains such conflicts.

The Company takes into account the principles and rules of Capital Markets Authority towards
ensuring independence and neutrality of External Auditors. Following the best governance practices,
the Company shall evaluate the External Auditor on annual basis based on a specific mechanism
focusing on the performance, professionalism and independence under the supervision of the Audit
Committee.

Rule - 5: Apply Sound Systems of Risk Management and Internal Audit

The Company has appointed a Risk Management Coordinator whose responsibility is to identify and
monitor the risks associated with the Company’s activities. As a result, the Company’s risk exposure
has been evaluated by preparing periodic reports to the Risk Management Committee. As best
practice measures, the Risk Management Coordinator is fully independent by reporting directly to
the Board through the Risk Management Committee without granting him any financial authorities.

Risk Management Committee is formed in accordance with corporate governance rules and
regulations issued by Capital Markets Authority, taking into account the following requirements in
the selection of the Committee Members:

1. Committee to be formed of at least three members, including an Independent Member.
2. Chairman of the Board shall not be a Committee Member.

3. Chairman of Committee shall be a Non-Executive Board Member.

The Company has a good internal control environment that includes all company activities. The
organizational structure of the Company supports the dual audit (Four Eyes Principles). An external
office has been appointed to prepare an Internal Control Review (ICR) report which allows the
Company to identify and address the weaknesses of such controls.

Regarding the issuance of the executive bylaws of the Capital Markets Authority — Module 15 - Rule
5 — Article 6-9. The Company have appointed an independent auditing firm to revise and evaluate
its internal audit function for the past 3 years. More importantly, to ensure the full compliance
of the internal Audit unit with CMA regulations, international Internal Audit standards and ethical
standards. Ajial aimsthat the internal audit function continues to be an added value to the Company.

11
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Overall Framework of Internal Audit:

The Audit Committee considered the cost/benefit of establishing an internal audit unit within the
Company orappointan external firmto carry out the internal audit activities. As aresult, the Committee
decided to appoint an external firm to cooperate with the Company’s internal Audit Coordinator
to carry out such activities. The Audit Committee should ensure the efficiency of the Company’s
operations and that the internal audit structure covers all the Company’s areas of activities.

Rule - 6: Promote Code of Conduct and Ethical Standards

Values and Ethics:

Ajial continues to apply corporate governance values as fundamental principles and as an integral
part of the culture of the Company. The Company is also committed to achieving the highest levels
of governance and has established those values within a number of principles:

Applying measures to maintain confidentiality of information by adopting a Whistle-blowing
policy which encourages Employees to report any complaint related to bad behavior / illegal or
unprofessional actions.

Developing an ethic code which is considered one of the most important components of the corporate
governance framework. This is being promoted through the code of conduct which is approved by
the Board of Directors and adopted by Executive Management. The same is taken into consideration
in the daily interactions with employees, customers and all of the Company’s Stakeholders.

Conflict of Interest Policy:

Conflict of interest occurs when the interest of an Employee is in conflict with that of the Company.
In order to ensure maximum levels of transparency and objectivity, the Company at all times ensures
that its transactions are carried out on the basis of equality, fairness and integrity. The policy of
related party transactions has been reviewed and considered to be consistent with the Company’s
activities. In addition, the Company adopted a set of procedures regulating disclosure of potential
conflicts of interest and the mechanism of addressing it.

Rule - 7: Ensure Timely and High-Quality Disclosure & Transparency

The Company made the following disclosures during the year:
The issuance of the interim financial statements.
The shareholders who hold 5% or more of the company’s share capital.

BOD meeting results

P W N oe

Court cases related to the Company.
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5. Announcement of the Annual General Assembly meeting.
6. Restructuring of credit facilities.
7. Corporate actions due dates.

The Company has in place a record of the disclosures and declarations made by Board Members and
Executive Management available for review by all Company Shareholders free of charge. In addition,
the Company is committed to update the aforesaid record’s information on a regular basis to reflect
the current state of these persons.

The Company established a unit for handling Investors’ affairs which is in charge of providing
information and reports required for its potential Investors. This unit is run by the Account’s Manager
but under the supervision of the CEOQ. Moreover, policies and procedures have been put in place to
ensure proper independence of the Investors’ affairs unit which enables these Investors to have
timely access to relevant information and reports.

The Company seeks to further enhance the use of its IT functions to build proper communication
channels with Shareholders, Investors and Stakeholders. A corporate governance section has been
created in the Company’s website, in which all updated information is made available to assist
Shareholders and Investors to exercise their rights to evaluate the Company’s performance.

Rule - 8: Respect the Rights of Shareholders

The Company ensures thatthe Shareholders have timely access to the companyinformation; including
its financial performance, objectives, corporate governance and the Company’s risk exposure. This
will enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an efficient manner and allow Shareholders
and Investors to easily interact with the Company.

A record is kept with the clearing company that contains the names, nationalities, address and number
of shares of each Shareholder of Ajial. Any changes to this information is updated accordingly. Any
Stakeholder may request access to information in the aforesaid record from Ajial or the clearing company.

The Company encourages Shareholders to exercise their rights to participate in the Company’s
Annual General Meeting and vote regardless of their level or position. The Company’s Shareholders’
rights policy sets out the mechanism of participation and voting in the Annual General Meetings.

Rule - 9: Recognize the Roles of Stakeholders

The Company allows Stakeholders to access information relevant to the Company’s activities in an
easy and timely manner. All Stakeholders are allowed to express their views about the Company. The
Company’s policies encourage Stakeholders to inform the Board of any practices prohibited in the
Whistleblowing policy.

Rule - 10: Encourage and Enhance Performance

Board Members and Executive Management performance is evaluated each year. Thus, the Company
provides ongoing training programs for Board and Executive Management as per their training
requirements. Professional/Personal development activities for members must be approved in
advance by the Board of Directors for which a training budget is prepared.

13
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The Company applies self-appraisal policy for the Board and each Member separately through a set of
guestions which allows each Member to evaluate themselves. In order to evaluate their achievements
and assess the challenges faced and how it impacted the work quality and performance. Eventually
this will help them to benefit from the process and become more efficient.

The Board of Directors is committed to develop an integrated reporting system to be acommunication
tool by setting out mechanisms relevant to corporate strategy, governance, performance and future
expectations. This will create value in the long term and bridge the gap between current company
reports and the information required by the investors in order to evaluate investment values and
company forecasts etc.

Rule - 11: Focus on the Importance of Corporate Social Responsibility

In order to achieve and maintain a proper balance between Social/Environmental objectives and
the Company’s business objectives, the Company aims to meet its obligation towards Society,
Stakeholders, Employees, and the Environment by immersing in the field of Social work which
includes but not limited to the following:

1. To create job opportunities and better work conditions.
2. To support national manpower and boost its competitive edge and efficiency.

3. To present the Company’s activities in a manner consistent with the overall economic and
cultural condition in the community.

4. Protect the environment against pollution, damage and destruction.

5. Initiate charitable activities.
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Audit Committee Report For the Year Ended on 31 December 2017

Introduction

The Committee is comprised of three members, as follows:

1. Shk. Hamad Mubarak Al Sabah ( Head of Committee )
2. Mr. Mohamad Abdulrazzak Al Kandari ( Member)
3. Ms. Tahani Al Ajmi (Member )

Committee Meetings and Performance/Achievements:

Audit Committee holds its meetings on regular basis at least once each quarter of the year and when
required or necessary. The Committee Secretary prepares the minutes of meeting for each meeting
and keeps track of all of the Committee’s resolutions. The Committee held 4 meetings in 2018. The
key achievements of the Committee during the year are as follows:

* Ensuring soundness, transparency and integrity of the financial reports by reviewing period-
ically the financial statements and submitting their opinions and recommendations to the
Board.

* Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment of the External Auditors and
monitor their performance to ensure that they are not providing any other services other
than the audit profession.

* Supervising the Internal Audit activities and provide recommendations on the recruitment
and termination of the Internal Audit firm which carries out such activities for the Company.

* Reviewing the Internal Audit plan and results of the Internal Audit report.

* Reviewing the internal policies and procedures for the Company’s various departments and
ensure compliance with the requirements of the regulatory authorities.

* Consider the applied accounting policies and provide the Board of Directors with opinion and
recommendation in this regard.

Committee Opinion on Company Internal Control Process

As per Committee follow up and supervision of internal audit in 2018, and based on risk assessment,
the Committee believes that the Company has adequate and efficient internal control environment
in place, as no material weaknesses were found, and no failures have been detected in the internal
control systems.

The Executive Management continues to implement internal controls in a manner ensuring protec-
tion of the Company assets and integrity of financial statements. Along with the efficiency of the
operational activities of the Company with its financial, administrative and accounting processes.

Excellent cooperation and coordination at the professional and practical level remains in place with
Internal Auditors, which was reinforced by holding regular meetings to exchange information on
matters related to Audit, Administrative Control and Risk Management. Also, continuous communi-
cation of strategies, annual reports and individual plans have been made between the Internal Au-
ditors and Executive Management to ensure adequate and efficient supervision in order to address
any weaknesses and failures.
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Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

Nomination & Remuneration Committee Report For the year ended 31
December 2018

In the year 2018, Ajial faced many challenges as mentioned in the Chairman’s speech. The main
mission of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee this year was the completion and
implementation of the remuneration and incentives system in the Company. The aim was to ensure
that the Company’s remuneration policy continues to attract, motivate and retain employees of
talent and expertise and to allow the Executive Management to lead the Company in the near and
long-term future.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee consists of the following three members:
1. Shk. Hamad Mubarak Al Sabah ( Head of Committee )
2. Mrs. Tahani Al Ajmi ( Member )
3. Mr. Abdulaziz Faisal Al Khatrash ( Member)

This report shall disclose the Board Members and Executive Management’s remunerations for the
period of January 2018 to December 2018.

Ajial’s primary objective is to create value for its Shareholders. Hence, the remuneration policy
strives to develop considering the following objectives:

* Ensuring the remuneration policy is consistent with the industry in which the Company
operates, as well as the Board of Director’s achievements and having the ability to encourage
and enhance performance.

* Ensuring the Executive Management’s remunerations are in line with good performance and
the acceptable risk level of the Company set forth by the remuneration policy.

On February 11, 2019 the Board of Directors proposed a total bonus of KD 40,000 to be paid to
the Board Members for the year ended 31st December 2018, subject to the approval of the Annual
General Meeting.

On February 11, 2019 the Board of Directors proposed a total bonus of KD 52,000 to be paid to all
staff members for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AJIAL REAL ESTATE ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P.

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ajial Real Estate Entertainment
Company K.S.C.P (the “Parent Company”) and its subsidiary (collectively, the “Group”), which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the
consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of cash flows and consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISA”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AJIAL REAL ESTATE ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P. (continued)

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

a) Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties of the Group represent a significant portion of the total assets as at 31
December 2018 and are carried at fair value. The management of the Group determines the fair
value of its investment properties on periodical basis and uses external appraisers to support the
valuation at year-end. The valuation of the investment properties at fair value is highly
dependent on estimates and assumptions such as rental value, occupancy rates, discount rates,
financial stability of tenants, market knowledge and historical transactions. Further, the
disclosures relating to the assumptions are relevant, given the estimation uncertainty and
sensitivity of the valuations. Due to the size and complexity of the valuation of investment
properties and the importance of the disclosures relating to the assumptions used in the
valuation, we identified this as a key audit matter. The Group’s policies for fair valuation of
investment properties are presented in accounting policies in Note 2 of the consolidated
financial statements.

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

- We have reviewed the assumptions and estimates made by the management and the
external appraisers, appropriateness of the valuation technique and reasonableness of data
used in the valuation.

- We have evaluated the management’s sensitivity analysis to ascertain the impact of
reasonably possible changes to key assumptions on the fair value of properties such as
rental income, occupancy rates, discount rates, and historical transactions.

- We have considered the objectivity, independence and expertise of the external appraisers.

- We assessed that the significant assumptions and related uncertainties are appropriately
reflected in the sensitivity disclosure in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

b) Impairment of investment in associates

The carrying value and the related share of results of investment in associates is significant to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements and to the Group’s results. The Group assesses if
there are any indicators of impairment in the carrying value of its investment in associates. Such
assessment considers any significant adverse changes in economy, market, legal environment,
industry or the political environment. Accordingly, we have considered this as a key audit
matter. The accounting policies relating to investment in an associate is given in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following:

- We evaluated management's considerations of the impairment indicators of investment in
associates.

- Insuch consideration, we assessed whether any decline in value exists, significant adverse
changes in the economy, market, legal environment, industry or the political environment
in which the associates operate, structural changes in the industry in which the associates
operate, changes in the political environment affecting the associates business and changes
in the associates’ financial condition.

The disclosures relating to Group’s investment in associates are given in Note 5 of the
consolidated financial statements.
-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AJIAL REAL ESTATE ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P. (continued)

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Other information included in the Group’s 2018 Annual Report

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the
information included in the Group’s 2018 Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the report of the Parent Company’s
Board of Directors, prior to the date of our auditor’s report, and we expect to obtain the
remaining sections of the Annual Report after the date of our auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and
we do not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to
read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of the
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Groups or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

EEEEEEEEEEE———
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Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AJIAL REAL ESTATE ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P. (continued)

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AJIAL REAL ESTATE ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY K.S.C.P. (continued)

Report on the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company
and the consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent
Company’s Board of Directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in
accordance therewith. We further report that we obtained all the information and explanations
that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial statements
incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No 1 of 2016, as amended,
and its executive regulations, as amended, and by the Parent Company's Memorandum of
Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, that an inventory was duly carried out
and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law No 1 of
2016, as amended, and its executive regulations, as amended, or of the Parent Company’s
Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, have occurred during
the year ended 31 December 2018 that might have had a material effect on the business of the
Parent Company or on its financial position.

BADER A. AL ABDULJADER
LICENCE NO. 207 A

EY

AL AIBAN, AL OSAIMI & PARTNERS

13 February 2019

Kuwait
e
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Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOMES
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes

Rental and services income
Property operating expenses

Net rental income

Change in fair value of investment properties

Share of result of associates

Gain on sale/ redemption of financial assets available for sale

Impairment loss on financial assets available for sale

Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss

Realised loss on sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Dividend income

(o282 I

Net investment income

Total operating income

Administrative expenses
Allowance for impairment of receivables

Net operating income

Other income
Reversal/(charge) of claim for legal expenses 15
Finance costs

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE CONTRIBUTION TO
KUWAIT FOUNDATION FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF
SCIENCES (KFAS), NATIONAL LABOUR SUPPORT TAX
(NLST), ZAKAT AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

NLST
Zakat
Board of Directors’ remuneration 13

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 3

The attached notes 1 to 23 from part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2018 2017
KD KD
2,334,540 2,455,850
(1,061,671) (1,027,907)
1,272,869 1,427,943
(1,266,151) (463,576)
2,467,629 2,525,292
- 2,164,782
- (439,286)
(47,844) (306,866)
(128,916) (54,188)
150,186 99,700
1,174,904 3,525,858
2,447,773 4,953,801
(761,505) (730,951)
(21,913) (18,371)
1,664,355 4,204,479
93,184 69,885
1,280,319 (678,761)
(472,466) (467,534)
2,565,392 3,128,069
(66,066) (79,855)
- (5,957)
(40,000) (40,000)
2,459,326 3,002,257
13.35 fils 16.30 fils
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE NICOME
For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
KD KD
Profit for the year 2,459,326 3,002,257
Other comprehensive income:
Item that are (or) may be reclassified subsequently to consolidated
statement of income in subsequent periods:
Financial assets available for sale:
- Net change in fair value - (662,118)
- Transferred to consolidated statement of income on impairment - 439,286
- Transferred to consolidated statement of income - (2,869)
Foreign currency translation adjustments of an associate 25,694 (75,420)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year 25,694 (301,121)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 2,485,020 2,701,136

The attached notes 1 to 23 from part of these consolidated financial statements.

EEEEEEEEEEE———
23



Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Notes KD KD
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Furniture and equipment 24,530 44,697
Investment properties 4 63,462,636 64,376,000
Investment in associates 5 66,885,395 64,784,892
Financial assets available for sale 6 - 2,190,439
130,372,561 131,396,028
Current assets
Accounts receivable and prepayments 174,661 122,231
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 2,417,921 1,450,234
Term deposit 8 - 1,000,000
Bank balances and cash 1,389,149 962,775
3,981,731 3,535,240
TOTAL ASSETS 134,354,292 134,931,268
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Share capital 9 18,522,000 18,522,000
Share premium 5,199,430 5,199,430
Statutory reserve 10 1,082,849 826,310
Voluntary reserve 11 899,218 642,679
Share options reserve - 37,213
Capital surplus 12 759,234 1,680,298
Treasury shares 14 (319,250) (319,250)
Cumulative changes in fair value reserve - 28,412
Effect of change in accounting policy of investment properties 46,118,487 46,118,487
Foreign currency translation reserve (49,726) (75,420)
Retained earnings 50,094,927 48,120,267
Total equity 122,307,169 120,780,426
Non-current liabilities
Employees’ end of service benefits 164,685 137,762
Accounts payable and accruals 15 259,963 245,864
Murabaha payable 16 10,000,000 10,000,000
10,424,648 10,383,626
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 15 1,622,475 3,767,216
1,622,475 3,767,216
Total liabilities 12,047,123 14,150,842
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 134,354,292 134,931,268

Sheikh\ Hamad Mubarak Jaber Al Ahmad Al Sabah
Vice Chairman

Sheikh\ Ali Al Abdullah Al Khalifah Al Sabah
Chairman

The attached notes 1 to 23 from part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2018

As at 1 January 2018

Impact on adoption of
IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018
(Note 2.3)

Restated balance at 1
January 2018

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive
income for the year

Total comprehensive
income for the year
Reversal of share options
during the year
Dividends paid (Note 13)
Transfer to reserves

As at 31 December 2018

As at 1 January 2017

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive loss
for the year

Total comprehensive (loss)
income for the year

Issuance of bonus share
Transfer to reserves

As at 31 December 2017

The attached notes 1 to 23 from part of these consolidated financial statements.

Effect of
change
Cumulative inaccounting  Foreign
changesin  policy of currency
Share Share Statutory ~ Voluntary Share options  Capital Treasury fairvalue  investment translation  Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve surplus shares reserve properties reserve earnings equity
KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD KD
18,522,000 5,199,430 826,310 642,679 37,213 1,680,298 (319,250) 28,412 46,118,487 (75,420) 48,120,267 120,780,426
- - - - - - - (28,412) - - 28,412 -
18,522,000 5,199,430 826,310 642,679 37,213 1,680,298 (319,250) - 46,118,487 (75,420) 48,148,679 120,780,426
- - - - - - - - - - 2,459,326 2,459,326
- - - - - - - - - 25,694 - 25,694
- - - - - - - - - 25,694 2,459,326 2,485,020
- - - - (37,213) - - - - - - (37,213)
- - - - - (921,064) - - - - - (921,064)
- - 256,539 256,539 - - - - - - (513,078) -
18,522,000 5,199,430 1,082,849 899,218 - 759,234 (319,250) - 46,118,487 (49,726) 50,094,927 122,307,169
17,640,000 5,199,430 513,503 329,872 37,213 2,562,298 (319,250) 254,113 46,118,487 - 45,743,624 118,079,290
- - - - - - - - - - 3,002,257 3,002,257
- - - - - - - (225,701) - (75,420) - (301,121)
- - - - - - - (225,701) - (75,420) 3,002,257 2,701,136
882,000 - - - - (882,000) - - - - - -
- - 312,807 312,807 - - - - - - (625,614) -
18,522,000 5,199,430 826,310 642,679 37,213 1,680,298 (319,250) 28,412 46,118,487 (75,420) 48,120,267 120,780,426
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Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2018

2018 2017
Notes KD KD
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year 2,459,326 3,002,257
Adjustments to reconcile profit for the year to net cash flows:

Change in fair value on investment properties 4 1,266,151 463,576
Share of result of associates 5 (2,467,629) (2,525,292)
Gain on sale/redemption of financial assets available for sale - (2,164,782)
Impairment loss on financial assets available for sale - 439,286
Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss 47,844 306,866
Realised loss on sale of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 128,916 54,188
Dividend income (150,186) (99,700)
Interest income (11,171) (26,562)
Gain on disposal of furniture and equipment - (1,100)
Depreciation 31,319 36,445
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 45,447 45,820
Allowance for impairment of receivables 21,913 18,371
Finance costs 472,466 467,534
Reversal of share options (37,213) -
1,807,183 16,907
Working capital adjustments:
Accounts receivable and prepayments (74,343) (64,562)
Accounts payable and accruals (2,122,393) 752,301
Cash flows (used in) from operating activities (389,553) 704,646
Employees’ end of service benefits paid (18,524) (12,718)
Net cash flows (used in) from operating activities (408,077) 691,928
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to furniture and equipment (11,152) (14,094)
Additions to investment properties 4 (352,787) (325,076)
Additions to investment in associates 5 (317,863) (416,275)
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss 1,120,992 611,037
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (75,000) -
Proceeds from disposal of furniture and equipment - 1,100
Proceeds from sale/redemption of financial assets available for sale - 2,869
Dividend received from associates 5 710,683 -
Dividend income 150,186 99,700
Net movement in term deposits 1,000,000 -
Interest income received 11,171 26,562
Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities 2,236,230 (14,177)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid (929,313) (2,189)
Finance costs paid (472,466) (467,534)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (1,401,779) (469,723)
NET INCREASE IN BANK BALANCES AND CASH 426,374 208,028
Bank balances and cash at the beginning of the year 962,775 754,747
BANK BALANCES AND CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR 1,389,149 962,775

The attached notes 1 to 23 from part of these consolidated financial statements.
I ————————————————
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2018

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements of Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P. (the “Parent
Company™) and its Subsidiary (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018 were authorised
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 11 Feb. 2019. The General Assembly of the
Parent Company’s shareholders has the power to amend these consolidated financial statements after their issuance.

The Parent Company is a Kuwaiti public shareholding company registered and incorporated in
Kuwait on 26 October 1996.

The Parent Company activities are as follows:
e All real estate activities including buying and selling lands, real estate and renting and leasing thereof inside
and outside Kuwait;

e Establish and maintain buildings and real estate projects including establishment of residential complexes
thereof;

e Establish commercial markets and entertainment centres, touristic facilities and building special
accommodations;

e Perform all contracting works and trade in building materials requires for real estates and invest in companies
and projects shares with similar objects to the Parent Company’s;

e Prepare studies for real estate projects, whether general of private and execute thereof directly or by proxy;
e Manage properties inside or outside Kuwait and perform works which helps it to achieve its objectives;

e Manage real estate portfolios for its accounts or for third parties and the Parent Company may have interest or
take part in any aspect with persons and companies, establishments and entities which manage or practice
works with similar objects or which may cooperate with it to achieve its objectives or be merged therein or
buy thereof, or be affiliated thereto.

The Parent Company’s shares are listed on Boursa Kuwait.

The registered head office of the Parent Company is located at Al Hamra Tower, 26th Floor, Office No. 2, P.O.
Box 22448, Safat 13085, Kuwait.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis modified to include the

measurement at fair value of investment properties and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (KD), which is also the functional
and presentation currency of the Parent Company.



Ajial Real Estate Entertainment Company K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2018

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiary
as at 31 December 2018.

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an
investee if, and only if, the Group has:

= Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee);

= Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
= The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and
when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

= The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
= Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
=  The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”) are attributed to the equity holders of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-controlling
interests, and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement
of income. Consideration received and any investment retained are recognized in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value. It also reclassifies any share of components previously recognised in OCI to the
consolidated statement of income or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Details of the subsidiary included in the consolidated financial statements are set out below:

Effective interest in

Country of equity
Name of the company incorporation 2018 2017 Principal activities
Entertainment
Al Hamra Cinema Company K.S.C. (Closed) Kuwait 98% 97%  services

The Parent Company effectively owns 100% equity interest in the above entity. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on this basis. The ownership of 2% (2017:3%) is registered in the name of
related parties as nominees. However, the Parent Company is the beneficial owner for 100% equity interest.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group applies, for the first time, IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments that requires retrospective application. However, the Group has decided to implement these standards
on partial retrospective basis, as allowed under the provisions of these standards. The Group has not early adopted
any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

The key changes to the Group’s accounting policies resulting from its adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are
summarised below:

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers effective from 1 January 2018. This
standard supersedes IAS 11 Construction Contracts and 1AS 18 Revenue and related interpretations and it applies
to all revenue arising from contracts with customers, unless those contracts are in the scope of other standards. The
new standard establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. This standard removes inconsistencies and weaknesses
in previous revenue recognition requirements, provides a more robust framework for addressing revenue issues
and improves comparability of revenue recognition practices across entities, industries, jurisdictions and capital
markets.

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using cumulative effect method (modified retrospective approach) with the effect
of initially applying this standard recognised at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January 2018).

As the Group’s revenue is mainly arising from the rental income and related services generated from the operating
leases, the adoption of this standard did not result in any change in accounting policies of the Group and does not have
any material effect on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 effective from 1 January 2018. IFRS 9 brings together the requirements for recognising
and measuring financial assets and financial liabilities, impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. This
standard replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

The Group has not restated comparative information for the financial year 2017, in respect to adoption of this
standards, as permitted by the transitional provisions of the standard. Therefore, the information presented for the year
ended 31 December 2017 does not reflect the requirements of IFRS 9 and is not comparable to the information
presented for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The following table shows reconciliation of original measurement categories and carrying value in accordance with
IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as

at 1 January 2018.
Original
Original New carrying Re- New carrying
classification classification amountunder  measurement  amount under
2018 under 1AS 39 under IFRS 9 1AS ECL IFRS 9
KD KD KD
Financial assets
Unquoted equity
investments AFS FVTPL 2,190,439 - 2,190,439
Managed funds and
portfolios FVTPL FVTPL 1,450,234 - 1,450,234
Loans and
Accounts receivable receivables Amortised cost 122,231 - 122,231
Loans and
Bank balances and cash receivables Amortised cost 962,775 - 962,775
Loans and
Term deposits receivables Amortised cost 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
Financial liabilities
Murabaha payable Amortised cost  Amortised cost 10,000,000 - 10,000,000
Accounts payable and
accruals Amortised cost  Amortised cost 4,013,080 - 4,013,080
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
The impact of adoption of IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018 has been to increase retained earnings by KD 28,412, and
to decrease the cumulative changes in fair value reserve by KD 28,412 as follows:

Cumulative
changes in fair Retained
value reserve earnings
KD KD

Closing balance under 1AS 39 as at 31 December 2017 (as originally
stated) 28,412 48,120,267
Impact on reclassification and remeasurement:
Equity securities from AFS to FVTPL (28,412) 28,412
Opening balance under IFRS 9 (1 January 2018) — restated - 48,148,679

The key changes to the Group’s accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are summarised below:

(a) Classification and measurement
Except for certain accounts receivable, under IFRS 9, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value
plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.

Under IFRS 9, debt financial instruments are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL),
Amortised Cost (AC), or fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). The classification is based on two
criteria: the Group’s business model for managing the assets; and whether the instruments’ contractual cash flows
represent ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ on the principal amount outstanding (the ‘SPPI criterion’).

With respect to receivables, the Group analysed the contractual cash flow characteristics of those instruments and
concluded that based on their business model which is to hold the financial asset to collect the contractual cash flows
which meets the SPPI criterion, these instruments shall be classified as at amortised cost under IFRS 9. Therefore,
reclassification for these instruments is not required on initial adoption of IFRS 9.

Financial assets at FVTPL comprise equity instruments which the Group had not irrevocably elected, at initial
recognition or transition, to classify at FVOCI. This category would also include debt instruments whose cash flow
characteristics fail the SPPI criterion or are not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect
contractual cash flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows and sell. Under 1AS 39, the Group’s equity securities
were classified as AFS financial assets. Upon transition the AFS reserve relating to these equity securities, which had
been previously recognised under accumulated OCI, was reclassified to retained earnings as at 1 January 2018.

The assessment of the Group’s business models was made as of the date of initial application, 1 January 2018, and
then applied retrospectively to those financial assets that were not derecognised before 1 January 2018. The
assessment of whether contractual cash flows on debt instruments are solely comprised of principal and interest was
made based on the facts and circumstances as at the initial recognition of the assets.

The accounting for the Group’s financial liabilities remains largely the same as it was under IAS 39. Similar to the
requirements of IAS 39, IFRS 9 requires contingent consideration liabilities to be treated as financial instruments
measured at fair value, with the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

(b) Impairment

The adoption of IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Group’s accounting for impairment losses for financial assets
by replacing IAS 39’s incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach. IFRS 9
requires the Group to record an allowance for ECLs for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at FVTPL.

ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the
cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to the asset’s original
effective interest rate.

For accounts receivable and prepayments, the Group has applied the standard’s simplified approach and has calculated
ECLs based on lifetime expected credit losses. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment. Accordingly, the measurement of receivables under IFRS 9 doesn’t have material impact on
consolidated statement of income for the Group.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payment are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.

(c) Hedge accounting
The Group did not have any impact resulting from the new guidance relating to hedge accounting included in IFRS
9, as the Group is not dealing in any derivative instruments.

(d) Other adjustments

In addition to the adjustments described above, upon adoption of IFRS 9, other items of the primary financial
statements such investment in associates (arising from the financial instruments held by these entities), tax expense,
retained earnings and exchange differences on translation of foreign operations were adjusted as necessary.

24 STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

Standards issued but not yet effective up to the date of issuance of the Group’s consolidated financial statements
are listed below. This listing of standards issued is those that the Group reasonably expects to have an impact on
disclosures, consolidated financial position or performance when applied at a future date. The Group intends to adopt
these standards when they become effective.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to
the accounting for finance leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees — leases
of "low-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less). At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease
liability) and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use
asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation
expense on the right-of-use asset.

Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a change in
the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments). The lessee will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting under
IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish
between two types of leases: operating and finance leases. IFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more
extensive disclosures than under IAS 17. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
Early application is permitted, but not before an entity applies IFRS 15. A lessee can choose to apply the standard
using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The standard’s transition provisions permit
certain reliefs. In 2018, the Group will continue to assess the potential effect of IFRS 16 on its consolidated financial
statements.

Additional disclosures will be made in the consolidated financial statements when these standards, revisions and
amendments become effective.

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Revenue recognition applied from 1 January 2018

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are transferred to the
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. The Group has concluded that it is acting as an agent in all of its revenue arrangements.

The following specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised.

- Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straight line basis
over the lease term.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition applied from 1 January 2018 (continued)

- Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

- Indetermining the transaction price for the services, the Group considers the effects of variable consideration,
the existence of significant financing components, noncash consideration and consideration payable to the
customer (if any). The Group does not have any effect from these considerations since the Group is acting as
an agent in all its revenue arrangements.

Revenue recognition applied up to 31 December 2017

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable,
excluding discounts.

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised.

Rental income
Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straight line basis over
the lease term.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

Taxation

Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The Parent Company calculates the contribution to KFAS at 1% of profit for the year in accordance with the
modified calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors resolution, which states that income from
associates and subsidiaries and transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from profit for the year when
determining the contribution.

National Labour Support Tax (NLST)

The Parent Company calculates the NLST in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance
Resolutions No. 24 of 2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit for the year. As per law, income from associates and
subsidiaries, cash dividend from listed companies which are subjected to NLST have been deducted from the profit
for the year.

Zakat
Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit for the year in accordance with the requirements of the Ministry of Finance
resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the
asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets and then its
recoverable amount is assessed as part of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs. Where the carrying amount
of an asset (or cash-generating unit) exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount by recognizing impairment loss in the
consolidated statement of income.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or cash-
generating unit). In determining fair value less costs to sell an appropriate valuation model is used. These
calculations are corroborated by available fair value indicators.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation,
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated
statement of income.

Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the
date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of
exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

Business combination and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope
of 1AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair
value recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate
consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all
of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the
acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in consolidated statement of income.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of
the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Operating leases

Group as a lessee

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the assets are classified as
operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of income
on a straight line basis over the lease term.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Operating leases (continued)

Group as a lessor

Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the

period in which they are earned.

Rent received in advance from tenants

Rent received in advance from tenants represents rent relating to period after the reporting date, but received before
the reporting date, and are included under “accounts payable and accruals” in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Finance costs

Finance costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All
other finance costs are expensed in the period they occur. Finance costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity
incurs in connection with the borrowings.

Investment properties

Investment properties comprise properties under development and developed properties that are held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Properties held under a lease are classified as investment properties when they
are held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business or
for use in production or administrative functions.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Transaction costs include
professional fees for legal services, commissions and other costs to bring the property to the condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating. The carrying amount also includes the cost of replacing part of an existing
investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met; and excludes the costs of
day to day servicing of an investment property.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at
the reporting date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in
the consolidated statement of income in the year in which they arise.

Transfers are made to or from investment properties only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from
investment property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the
date of change in use. If owner occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in use.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the investment property would result in either gains
or losses on the retirement or disposal of the investment property. Any gains or losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of income in the period of derecognition.

Investment in associates
The Group’s investment in its associates is accounted for under the equity method of accounting. An associate is
an entity in which the Group has significant influence.

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. Goodwill relating
to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised nor separately tested for
impairment.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment in associates (continued)

The consolidated statement of income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate. Where
there has been a change recognised directly in the other comprehensive income of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in other comprehensive income. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the
interest in the associate.

The Group’s share of profit of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of income and
represents profit after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate. The financial statements
of the associate are prepared for no more than three-month difference in reporting period with the Group. When
necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associates. The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount in the consolidated statement of income. Upon loss of significant
influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Financial instruments — initial recognition, subsequent measurement and derecognition

In the current year, the Group has adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. See section 2.3 for an explanation of the
impact. Comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2017 have not been restated. Therefore, financial
instruments in the comparative period are still accounted for in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.

i) Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Policy effective from 1 January 2018 (IFRS 9)

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of accounts receivable that do
not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Accounts receivable that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred
to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset.

The Group's financial assets include financial assets at accounts receivable, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and bank balances and cash.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments — initial recognition, subsequent measurement and derecognition (continued)

i) Financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

Policy effective before 1 January 2018 (1AS 39)

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition into the following categories, in accordance with 1AS
39:

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. The Group includes in this category bank balances and cash and accounts receivable.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling and/or repurchasing in
the near term. These assets are acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term fluctuations
in price.

Financial assets available-for-sale

Financial assets available-for-sale are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale
or are not classified as loans and receivables. After initial recognition at cost including transaction costs associated
with the acquisition, financial assets whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are carried at cost less
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

e The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

e The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to
be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows
that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised
cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be designated at fair value through
profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position at
fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is

derecognised when:

= the rights to receive the cash flows from the asset have expired; or

= the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments — initial recognition, subsequent measurement and derecognition (continued)
i) Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the
asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

Policy effective from 1 January 2018 (IFRS 9)

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLSs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other
credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

For accounts receivable and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account
any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Policy effective before 1 January 2018 (1AS 39)

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only
if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future ECLs that have not yet been incurred) discounted using the asset’s original EIR. The carrying amount of the
asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised in consolidated
statement of income as credit loss expense.

Impaired debts, together with the associated allowance, are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group. If a previous write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to the consolidated statement of income.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments — initial recognition, subsequent measurement and derecognition (continued)

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss and loans and borrowings as appropriate. The Parent Company determines the classification of its financial
liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in case of loans and borrowings, plus directly
attributable transactions costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include murabaha payable, accounts payable and accruals.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Murabaha payable
Murabaha payable is an Islamic agreement which represents the amount payable, on a deferred settlement basis,
exceeding one year for assets purchased under murabaha arrangements.

Accounts payable and accruals
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by the
supplier or not.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

= Inthe principal market for the asset or liability; or
= In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:

= Levell Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

= Level2 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

= Level 3 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of
the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained
above. An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are
provided in Note 23.

Treasury shares

The Parent Company’s own shares are accounted for as treasury shares and are stated at cost. When the treasury
shares are sold, gains are credited to a separate account in equity (treasury shares reserve) which is non-
distributable. Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on that account.
Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then reserves. Gains realised subsequently on the sale of treasury
shares are first used to offset any previously recorded losses in the order of reserves, retained earnings and the
treasury shares reserve account. No cash dividends are distributed on these shares. The issue of bonus shares
increases the number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting
the total cost of treasury shares.

Employees’ end of service benefits

The Group provides end of service benefits to all its employees under the Kuwait Labour Law. The entitlement to
these benefits is based upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to completion of a minimum
service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment.

Further, with respect to its national employees, the Group also makes contributions to Public Institution for Social
Security calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these
contributions, which are expensed when due.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate of the obligation amount can be made.

Segment information

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment), or in providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other segments.

Contingencies
Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed unless the
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
accompanying disclosures, as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or
liabilities affected in future periods.

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Classification of financial assets - applicable from 1 January 2018

The Group determines the classification of financial assets based on the assessment of the business model within
which the assets are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are solely payments
of principal and profit on the principal amount outstanding.

Impairment of financial assets available for sale - applicable before 1 January 2018

The Group treats available for sale equity investments as impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination
of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires considerable judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, historical share price movements and duration and extent to which the fair value of
an investment is less than its cost.

Operating leases — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment properties. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a
major part of the economic life of the commercial property and the present value of the minimum lease payments
not amounting to substantially all of the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains all the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of these properties and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Classification of investment properties
The Group classifies property as investment properties if it is acquired to generate rental income, for capital
appreciation, or for undetermined future use.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters
available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about
future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of
the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Valuation of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties under development and developed investment properties is determined
based on valuation performed annually by independent professional real estate valuation experts who have the
required qualifications and experience in valuing such types of properties using recognised valuation techniques
recommended by the International Valuation Standards Committee, except if such value cannot be reliably
determined in the case of investment properties under development.

The fair value of investment properties under development is determined using a combination of the sales
comparison approach for the land and cost approach for the construction work. The fair value of developed
investment properties which generate rental income is determined using the income capitalization approach;
whereas, the fair value of developed investment properties which do not generate rental income is determined
using the sales comparison approach based on recent transactions for properties with characteristics and location
similar to those of the Group’s properties.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
(continued)

Impairment of investment in associates

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment
loss on its investment in its associates. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective
evidence that the investment in the associates is impaired. If such evidence exists, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the investment and its carrying value, then
recognises the loss in the consolidated statement of income.

3 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the year (excluding treasury shares). Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit for the year by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year (excluding
treasury shares) plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all
the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. As at the reporting date, the Group had no outstanding
dilutive potential shares.

2018 2017
Profit for the year (KD) 2,459,326 3,002,257
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
year (excluding treasury shares) 184,212,867 184,212,867
Basic and diluted earnings per share 13.35 fils 16.30 fils
4 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
2018 2017
KD KD
At 1 January 64,376,000 64,514,500
Additions 352,787 325,076
Change in fair value of investment properties (1,266,151) (463,576)
At 31 December 63,462,636 64,376,000
Investment properties are categorised as follows:
2018 2017
KD KD
Property under development 36,544,636 37,433,000
Developed properties 26,918,000 26,943,000

63,462,636 64,376,000

As at 31 December 2018, an investment property with fair value of KD 58,444,636 (2017: KD 37,433,000) is
pledged as a security against Murabaha payable of KD 10,000,000 (Note 16) (31 December 2017: pledged as a
security against Murabaha payable of KD 10,000,000).
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4 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The fair value of investment properties has been determined based on valuations performed by two independent
professional real estate valuers, who are industry specialised in valuing such type of investment properties. One of
these valuers is a local bank and the other is a local reputable accredited valuer. Both valuers have used the following
methods:

=  Properties under development has been valued using a combination of the sales comparison approach for the
land and cost approach for the construction work.

=  Developed properties which generates rental income has been valued using the income capitalisation approach.
For valuation purpose, the Group has selected the lower of these two valuations (2017: the lower of two valuations)

as required by the Capital Market Authority (CMA). Based on these valuations, the Group has recorded a fair value
loss of KD 1,266,151 (2017: KD 463,576) in the consolidated statement of income.

All investment properties are categorised in level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

The significant assumptions made relating to valuation of the developed property, that has been valued using the
income capitalization approach, are set out below:

2018 2017
Average rent (per sqm) (KD) 9.6 94
Yield rate 6.20% 6.12%
Vacancy rate 1.58% 3.23%

Sensitivity analysis
The table below presents the sensitivity of the valuation to changes in the most significant assumptions underlying the
valuation of the investment properties.

Changes in
valuation Impact on profit
assumptions for the year
2018 2017
KD KD
Average rent +1% 219,722 219,440
Yield rate +50 BP 178,512 180,807
Vacancy rate +1% 45,593 44,641
Percentage of operating expenses to annual rental income +1% 260,405 254,168
5 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
The Group has the following investment in associates:
Effective interest in
Country of equity
Name of company incorporation 2018 2017 Year- end Principal activities
Al Hamra Real Estate Company
K.S.C. (Closed) Kuwait 35.53% 35.53% 31 October Real estate activities
Al Madar Al Thahabia Company
W.L.L. (“Al Madar”) Saudi Arabia  24% 24% 31 December Real estate activities
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5 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
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Movement in the carrying amount of investment in associates during the year is as follows:

As at 1 January

Share of results

Additions

Dividends

Foreign currency translation adjustments

As at 31 December

2018 2017
KD KD
64,784,892 61,918,745
2,467,629 2,525,292

317,863 416,275
(710,683) -

25,694 (75,420)

66,885,395 64,784,892

The following tables illustrates the summarized financial information of the Group’s investment in associates:

Al Hamra
Al Madar Al Real Estate
Thahabia Company
Company K.S.C.
W.L.L. (Closed) 2018 2017
Associates statement of financial position: KD KD KD KD
Non-current assets 34,421,543 266,913,798 301,335,341 300,892,637
Current assets 860,560 5,198,776 6,059,336 5,070,955
Non-current liabilities (8,222,863) (95,025,047)  (103,247,910) (106,016,408)
Current liabilities (915,236) (6,496,942) (7,412,178) (9,368,587)
Equity 26,144,004 170,590,585 196,734,589 190,578,597
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 24.00% 35.53%
Carrying value of the investment 6,274,561 60,610,834 66,885,395 64,784,892
Associates revenues and results for
the year:
Revenues 1,214,998 17,607,175 18,822,173 17,192,108
Results (679,366) 7,404,103 6,724,737 7,269,075
Other comprehensive loss (107,063) - (107,063) (314,254)
Total comprehensive income (786,429) 7,404,103 6,617,674 6,954,820
6 FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE
2018 2017
KD KD
Local unquoted equity securities - 2,190,439

On adoption of IFRS 9 the management has reclassified financial assets available for sale to financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss detailed in Note 7.

Fair value hierarchy for determining the fair value of the financial instruments and the valuation techniques are

detailed in Note 23.
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6 FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE (continued)

During the prior year ended 31 December 2017, the Group sold financial assets available for sale which resulted in a
gain of KD 2,161,913 relating to an agreement entered by the Parent Company to obtain certain quoted shares with
fair value of KD 2,161,913, against unquoted shares that were classified as financial assets available for sale and were
fully impaired in previous years. The acquired shares were transferred to the Parent Company during the current year
and classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

7 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2018 2017
KD KD
Managed portfolios (local quoted equity securities) - 1,237,209
Local unquoted equity securities 2,301,970 49,882
Managed funds 115,951 163,143
2,417,921 1,450,234

8 TERM DEPOSIT

Term deposit is denominated in Kuwaiti Dinars and placed with local financial institution and carries a fixed
interest rate of Nil% (31 December 2017: 2.25%) per annum.

9 SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital of the Parent Company consists of:

Authorised, issued and fully paid up share capital

2018 2017 2018 2017
KD KD Shares Shares
185,220,000 shares of 100 fils each , fully paid in
cash 18,522,000 18,522,000 185,220,000 185,220,000

The share premium is not available for distribution.
10 STATUTORY RESERVE

In accordance with the Companies’ Law, and the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of
Association, a minimum of 10% of the profit for the year before contributions to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and board of
directors’ remuneration shall be transferred to the statutory reserve based on the recommendation of the Parent
Company’s board of directors. The annual general assembly of the Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such
transfer when the reserve exceeds 50% of the issued share capital.

Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of 5% of
paid up share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of a dividend of
that amount.

11 VOLUNTARY RESERVE

In accordance with the Companies’ Law, and the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of
Association, a maximum of 10% of the profit for the year before contributions to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and board of
directors’ remuneration is required to be transferred to the voluntary reserve. Such annual transfers may be
discontinued by a resolution of the shareholders’ general assembly upon a recommendation by the Board of Directors.
There are no restrictions on the distribution of this reserve.

12 CAPITAL SURPLUS

Capital surplus represents an amount due to the previous shareholders of the Parent Company, which was forfeited
during 1996 and transferred to the Parent Company’s shareholders’ equity. The amount is freely distributable.
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13 PROPOSED DIVIDENDS

On 11 February 2019, the Board of Directors of the Parent Company proposed no dividend and proposed Board of
Directors’ remuneration of KD 40,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: KD 40,000). These proposals
are subject to the approval of the Annual Ordinary General Assembly Meeting of the Parent Company’s shareholders.

On 12 March 2018, the Ordinary Annual General Assembly of the Parent Company’s shareholders approved the
proposed cash dividend of 5 fils per share (2016: Nil) and bonus shares of Nil (2016: 5%) for the year ended 31
December 2017.

14 TREASURY SHARES

2018 2017
Number of shares 1,007,133 1,007,133
Percentage of issued shares 0.54% 0.54%
Market value (KD) 135,963 167,184
Cost (KD) 319,250 319,250

The weighted average market price of the Parent Company’s shares for the year ended 31 December 2018 was
135 fils per share (31 December 2017: 166 fils per share).

Reserves of the Parent Company equivalent to the cost of purchase of the treasury shares have been earmarked as
non-distributable in the Parent Company.

15 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUALS

2018 2017
KD KD

Amounts due to contractors and suppliers 200,000 25,469
Rent received in advance from tenants 124,578 93,792
Deposits from tenants 259,963 245,864
Accrued expenses 167,916 193,864
Dividend payable 135,391 143,640
Amounts due to related parties (Note 18) 562 1,021
Other payables* 994,028 3,309,430

1,882,438 4,013,080

* Other payables mainly include legal claim expense relating to National Labour Service Tax and Zakat claimed by
Ministry of Finance, Kuwait. During previous years, the Parent Company recorded expenses for legal claims
relating to National Labour Service Tax (NLST) and Zakat claimed by Ministry of Finance for the years 2011 and
2012. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Parent Company signed a final settlement agreement with the
Ministry of Finance relating to NLST of 2011 and Zakat of 2011 of 1,023,756, for which a provision of
KD 2,304,075 was recorded in the books of the Parent Company. Based on this agreement, the Parent Company
paid an amount of KD 1,023,756 as final settlement of the claimed amount and reversed excess amount of
KD 1,280,319 to the consolidated statement of income for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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15 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUALS (continued)

Accounts payable and accruals are disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

2018 2017
KD KD
Non-current 259,963 245,864
Current 1,622,475 3,767,216

1,882,438 4,013,080

16 MURABAHA PAYABLE

Murabaha payable is obtained from a local financial institution, denominated in Kuwaiti Dinar and carries average
profit rate of 4.69% per annum (2017: 4.75%) and secured by a pledge over investment properties with a carrying
value of KD 58,444,636 as at 31 December 2018 (2017: KD 37,433,000) (Note 4).

17 CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash
flows - 31 December
1 January 2018 in/(out) 2018
KD KD KD
Dividends payable 143,640 (8,249) 135,391
Cash
1 January Flows - 31 December
2017 in/(out) 2017
KD KD KD
Dividend payable 145,829 (2,189) 143,640

18 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

These represent transactions with major shareholders, directors, executive officers and key management personnel
of the Group, close members of their families and companies of which they are principal owners or over which
they are able to exercise control or significant influence entered into by the Group in the ordinary course of
business. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Parent Company’s management.

Transactions with related parties included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

Associates 2018 2017
KD KD KD
Rent expense (included in property operating expenses and
administrative expenses ) 784,940 784,940 788,881

Balances with related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:

Associates 2018 2017
KD KD KD
Amounts due (to)/ from a related party (Note 15) (562) (562) 1,021

Amounts due (to)/ from a related party do not carry any interest and are payable within one year from the reporting
date.
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18 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel of the Group during the year were as follows:

2018 2017
KD KD
Salaries and short-term benefits 174,458 157,052
Employees’ end of service benefits 17,647 17,387
192,105 174,439

19 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has contingent liabilities representing a letter of guarantee amounting to
KD 21,399 (2017: KD 21,399) issued to the Ministry of Finance in respect of its investment properties, from which
it is anticipated that no material liability will arise.

20 SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on their products and services, and has
two reportable operating segments as follows:

- Real estate investing activities comprises investment and trading in real estate and construction or development
of real estate for the sale in the ordinary course of business and other related real estate services.

- Equities and other investing activities comprise participation in financial and real estate funds and managing
the Group’s liquidity requirements.

Segment reporting information is as follows:

Equities and
other investing Real estate
activities activities Unallocated Total
KD KD KD KD
31 December 2018
Segment revenue 2,488,899 2,334,540 1,373,503 6,196,942
Change in fair value of investment
properties - (1,266,151) - (1,266,151)
Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (47,844) - - (47,844)
Finance costs (472,466) - - (472,466)
Other expenses, net - (1,083,584) (867,571) (1,951,155)
Segment results 1,968,589 (15,195) 505,932 2,459,326
Segment assets 69,303,316 63,462,636 1,588,340 134,354,292
Segment liabilities 10,000,000 424,648 1,622,475 12,047,123
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20 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Equities and
other investing Real estate
activities activities Unallocated Total
KD KD KD KD
31 December 2017
Segment revenue 4,735,586 2,455,850 69,885 7,261,321
Change in fair value of investment
properties - (463,576) - (463,576)
Unrealised loss on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (306,866) - - (306,866)
Impairment loss on financial assets available
for sale (439,286) - - (439,286)
Finance costs (467,534) (467,534)
Other expenses, net (10,000) (1,046,278) (1,525,524) (2,581,802)
Segment results 3,511,900 945,996 (1,455,639) 3,002,257
Segment assets 68,425,565 64,376,000 2,129,703 134,931,268
Segment liabilities 10,000,000 383,626 3,767,216 14,150,842

21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The main risks arising from Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk. Risk is
inherent in the Group’s activities but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and
monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the Group’s
continuing profitability and each individual within the Group is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his
or her responsibilities.

Market risk is subdivided into profit rate risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk. It is also subject to
operating risks. The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the
environment technology and industry. They are monitored through the Group’s strategic planning process. The
Board of Directors are ultimately responsible for the overall risk management approach and for approving the risk
strategies and principles.

211 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other
party to incur a financial loss. Management of the Group attempts to control credit risk by monitoring credit
exposures, limiting transactions with specific counterparties, and continually assessing the creditworthiness of
counterparties. The maximum credit risk is limited to the carrying values of financial assets appearing on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group seeks to limit its credit risk with respect to tenants of its investment properties by monitoring outstanding
receivables. The Group limits credit risk with regard to its bank balances by only dealing with reputable banks.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

21.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its net funding requirements. Liquidity risk can be
caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades which may cause certain sources of funding to dry up
immediately. To guard against this risk, management has diversified funding sources and assets are managed with
liquidity considered, maintaining a healthy balance of cash and cash equivalents, and readily marketable securities.

EEEEEEEEEEE———
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

The liquidity profile of financial liabilities reflects the projected cash flows which includes future profit rate
payments over the life of these financial liabilities. The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s
undiscounted financial liabilities as at 31 December based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations:

Less than 3to 12 1to5
3 months months years Total
KD KD KD KD
2018
Murabaha payable 112,500 337,500 10,200,000 10,650,000
Accounts payables and accruals 200,000 1,422,475 259,963 1,882,438
Total 312,500 1,759,975 10,459,963 12,532,438
Less than 3to 12 1to5
3 months months years Total
KD KD KD KD
2017
Murabaha payable 118,750 356,250 10,600,000 11,075,000
Accounts payables and accruals 25,469 3,741,747 245,864 4,013,080
Total 144,219 4,097,997 10,845,864 15,088,080

21.3 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the value of an asset will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether those
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual investment or its issuer or factors affecting all investments
traded in the market. Market risk is managed based on pre-determined asset allocations across various asset
categories, diversification of assets in terms of geographical distribution and industry concentration, a continuous
appraisal of market conditions and trends and management’s estimate of long and short term changes in fair value.

21.3.1 Profit rate risk

Profit rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group is exposed to profit rate risk on its floating profit bearing murabaha
payable (Note 16).

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the consolidated statement of income to reasonably possible
changes in profit rates, with all other variables held constant:

Increase/ Effect on profit for
decrease the year before
in basis taxes
points KD
2018 (+/-) 100 100,000
2017 (+/-) 100 100,000

21.3.2 Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group is not significantly exposed to foreign currency risk as the majority of the Group’s assets and liabilities
are denominated in Kuwaiti Dinars.
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21 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

21.3.3 Equity price risk
Equity price risk arises from the change in fair values of equity investments. The Group manages this risk through
diversification of investments in terms of industry concentration.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of quoted investments value to reasonably possible changes in
equity prices, with all other variables held constant. The effect of decreases in equity prices is expected to be equal
and opposite to the effect of the increases shown.

The effect on the Group’s results as a result of a change in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss at 31 December 2018 due to a 5% change in market indices, with all other variables held constant is
as follows:

Effect on profit
for the year before taxes

2018 2017
KD KD
Market indices
Kuwait - 72,512

Capital Management
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios in
order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in business conditions. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2018 and
2017. Capital comprises total equity excluding cumulative changes in fair value reserve and foreign currency
translation reserve, and is measured at KD 122,376,395 as at 31 December 2018 (2017: KD 120,827,434).

22 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group has entered into construction contracts with third parties and is consequently committed to future
capital expenditure in respect of properties under construction amounting to KD 783,746.

23 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Financial instruments

Financial instruments comprise financial assets and financial liabilities.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value are not materially different
from their carrying amounts.

The methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values of assets is described in fair value section of Note
2.5: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

The following table shows an analysis of the Group’s assets recorded at fair value by level of the fair value
hierarchy at 31 December:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD KD
2018
Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss - - 2,417,921 2,417,921
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23 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD KD
2017
Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss 1,237,209 - 213,025 1,450,234

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of level 3 financial assets which are
recorded at fair value at 31 December.

Net
(losses)/gain
recorded in the  Net purchases,

At the consolidated  transfers, sales
beginning of statement of and At the end of
the year income settlements the year
KD KD KD KD
2018
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 1,450,234 (47,844) 1,015,531 2,417,921
2017
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 260,412 (361,054) 1,550,876 1,450,234

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation

Managed funds and portfolios have been valued based on Net Asset Value (NAV) provided by the custodian of the
fund. The information relating to valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs to valuation to compute
the sensitivity of the fair value measurement to changes in unobservable inputs is not available.

Significant
Valuation unobservable Sensitivity of the input to
techniques inputs Range fair value
Market multiples 5% increase (decrease) in the
Unquoted equity securities apprach DLOM * 209  discount would ~decrease

(increase) the fair value by
KD 6,861.

* Discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts that the Group has determined that market participants
would take into account when pricing the investments.

Non-financial assets

Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD
2018
Investment properties 36,544,636 26,918,000 63,462,636
2017
Investment properties 37,433,000 26,943,000 64,376,000
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23 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)
Non-financial assets (continued)

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of level 3 non-financial assets which
are recorded at fair value at 31 December.

At the Net purchases,
beginning Transfer to transfers, sales At the
of the year level 3 Net losses and settlements  end of the year
KD KD KD KD KD
As at 31 December 2018
Investment properties 26,943,000 - (81,150) 56,150 26,918,000
At the Net purchases,
beginning Transfer to transfers, sales At the
of the year level 3 Net losses and settlements  end of the year
KD KD KD KD KD
As at 31 December 2017
Investment properties 27,081,000 - (226,600) 88,600 26,943,000

Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation of investment properties:

Investment properties

Property under development

Property under development is valued using using a combination of the sales comparison approach for the land and
cost approach for the construction work. Sales comparison approach is based on a comparison of active market
prices for similar properties and recent arm’s length market transactions, adjusted for difference in the nature,
location or condition of the specific property. Estimated cost approach is based on a comparison of the cost of
constructing a similar property taking into consideration depreciation of the construction costs, adjusted for
difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific property.

Developed properties

Developed properties are valued using the income capitalization approach, which is based on capitalization of the
discounted annual cash flows from the property, which is calculated by discounting rental income generated
annually by the property using the current market discount rate. Details of inputs to the valuation and sensitivity
analysis are provided in Note 4.





